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JURISDICTION 

Under the Constitution the Ombudsman has jurisdiction to enquire into the conduct of 
Government and related bodies. This includes NORTHEN ISLANDS STEVEDORING 
COMPANY LIMITED (NISCOL) since the shareholders are four of the provinces and 
the Government of Vanuatu. 

The Ombudsman Act No 14 of 1995 continues to apply in this case as if it had not been 
repealed in accordance with section 11 of the Interpretation Act [Cap 1321 because the 
investigation began while the Act was in effect. This Act allows the Ombudsman to 
look into any body or agency that is wholly or partially supported out of the public 
money of Vanuatu. 

SUMMARY 

On 8 November 1991 a company known as Northern Islands Stevedoring Company 
Limited (NISCOL) was incorporated as a local company. The shareholders in the 
company were Sanma Province, Penama Province, Torba Province, Malampa 
Province and the Vanuatu Government. The shares are divided into 250,000 shares at 
Vt100 each. They are made up as follows: 

Sanma (100.000 ordinary shares) 40% 
Penama (50.000 ordinary shares) 20% 
Malampa (50.000 ordinary shares) 20% 
Torba (25.000 ordinary shares) 10% 
Vanuatu Government (25.000 ordinary shares) 10% 

Since the initial operation of NISCOL in 1992 different Directors have been appointed 
each time to the Board (Appendix A). The Board was made up of individuals, most of 
whom held political and public service positions in the Government, and the Sanma 
Provincial Council. 

Mr. Kalmer Vocor, the current General Manager of NISCOL stated that Board members 
of NISCOL are appointed by the directors andlor the shareholders of the company. 

- A 

Mr. William Tari stated that when NISCOL was set up the government appointed the 
directors who should have the power to determine the strategy of the company and to 
rebuild it. This was because NISCOL faced difficulties in carrying out its activities after 
the p~~rchase of old equipment from the former management. He further stated that 

- .. 
there was no law at the time to prohibit these appointments. 

The principal activity of NISCOL is to provide stevedoring services and storage facilities 
and equipment hire in Luganville. The major clients of NISCOL are the Vanuatu 
Commodities Marketing Board (VCMB) and the northern island business community in 
Luganville. 

Since the provinces and the Government hold shares in the company, each year they 
are paid dividends from the profits made by NISCOL. Although the company's turnover 
was high in the years 1993 to 1997 the net profits have gone down considerably each 
year. Profits decreased from VT27.8 million in 1993 to a VT247,OOO in 1997. The low 
profits affected the amount of dividends that was paid to each of the Shareholders 
annually. 

PURPOSE, SCOPE OF INVESTIGATION AND METHODS USED 

The objective of this investigation was to establish whether NISCOL was being 
managed properly and in the best interests of the shareholders, namely the provinces 
and the Government. 



RELEVANT LAWS 

The Companies Act [Cap 191],Section 40, Section 201 and Section The Ombudsman 
Act No 14 of 1995. S14(1) (iii) (A) and Article 66 of the Constitution 202. See 
"Appendix B." 

OUTLINE OF EVENTS AND FACTUAL INFORMATION 

Turn over and Profits 

Since 1993 NISCOL has made a substantial turnover during its operations as set 
out below: 

Year 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 
Turn OverlMillion VT 139.8 152.0 143.7 163.1 196.7 

Despite this turn over in each year the net profits have decreased. They dropped from 
VT27,000,000 in 1993 to VT247,OOO in 1997. The lowest periods were in 1995 
(VT317,OOO) and 1997 (VT247,OOO) respectively. 

Year 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 
Net profit1Million VT. 27.8 11.7 .317 10.6 .247 

Our investigation targeted only specific areas outlined below: 

Salaries and wages 
Advances 
Donations and sponsorships 

0 Directors fees 
Motor vehicles 

Fuel costs. 

BUDGET 

During the enquiry, the Ombudsman requested Mr. Vocor to provide copies of 
NISCOL's annual budget for the years 1994 to 1997. 

In reply Mr. Vocor stated that NISCOL does not prepare an annual budget. He 
explained that NISCOL is a private company, and it operates differently from 
Government departments. He further stated that since private businesses operate 
differently, they do not have yearly budget to work on. 

SALARIES AND WAGES 

There has been a steady increase in the salaries paid from 1993 to 1997. This is 
reflected in the increases as shown in the audited financial statements of the company 
and are as follows: 

Year 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 
SalariesIMillion VT. 39 43 56 57 64 

Since there is no budget it is not possible to estimate how much this is representative 
of NISCOL'S total budget. 

In April 1995, the Board decided that the General Manager's annual salary would be 
increased to VT1 ,800,000. In April 1996 the Board decided to increase the General 
Manager's salary by another VT200,OOO bringing it to VT2,000,000 per annum. At the 
same time it was decided that each year the General Manager's salary be increased by 
5%. 



In September 1996 the Board agreed to increase the salary of twenty-one staff 
members of NISCOL. The increase meant an annual additional cost of VT720,OOO to -- 
the company. 

In response to the working paper Board member Mr. William Tari stated that the 
increase in the staff salaries was justified as the previous salaries and wages were too 
low, thus affecting NISCOL'S ability to hire qualified staff. 

Salary and wage increases in 1996 were made despite the Board having been told on 
19 December 1995 that sales in July were low. The Company also suffered a loss in 
September 1995 as indicated by the accountant's report. Furthermore, the Board was 
aware that NlSCOL made a net profit of only VT317,200 in 1995. 

In response to the working paper Board member, Mr. William Tari stated that the 
increase in salaries did not contribute to the low profit of the company as there are 
other factors like demurrage charges and maintenance to old equipment. 

Salaries are an expense in a company such as NISCOL, an increase in which will 
affect the overall profits. Here, the Board was already aware that the company suffered 
losses in two months in 1995 and that its profit margin was only VT317,200 at the end 
of 1995. 

Although maintenance to old equipment was carried out in the early 1990's when 
NISCOL took over the management of the company, despite this profits were high in 
1993 and 1994. 

DIRECTOR'S BENEFITS, FEES AND ADVANCES 

Sitting Allowances 

It is evident from the Board of Director's minutes that the directors of NISCOL have 
been regularly increasing certain benefits. From 1994 to 1997 the Board increased . .. 
their various allowances three times (see above and Appendix C). 

New Amount 
(VTI 

[ Year 
I 

1995 
1996 
1996 
1997 

When the Board met the members received their daily sitting allowance of VtlO.OOO on 
top of their fixed monthly allowance of Vt60,OOO. If the Board did not meet the members 
still got the monthly sitting allowance and the increase in the allowance. 
This was made regardless of whether the Board met for only a few hours, for a full day 
or had no meeting at all during the month. 

Month 
Amn~mt IVTI 

The directors were informed during the Board meeting on 21 May 1996 that in 1995 
NISCOL made a profit of Vt317,OOO but agreed to grant the increases in spite of this 
fact. The majority of the Board members were also public servants occupying political 
positions in the Government and earning government salaries. In addition to their 
salaries they also got paid this monthly allowance. These Board members were: 

Antoine Pikioune - IS' Secretary, Prime Minister's Office 
Tom Bakeo (Permanent Officer) - Director, Local Government Department 
Theodore Solong - 2nd Secretary Ministry of Agriculture, 

Livestock, Forestry & Fisheries 
lrene Bongnaim - 1 " Secretarv Ministw of lndustrv & 

\ - - I  

5,000 
10,000 
30,000 
60,000 

August 
May 
September 
October 

Havo Moli 
Commerce 
- Executive Officer, Sanma Province 

\ -  ' 1  

3,000 
5,000 
10,000 
30,000 

66% 
100% 
200% 
100% 



SEVERANCE AND GOODWILL PAYMENTS 

The directors granted themselves severance and goodwill payments. These were paid 
at the end of each year they served as members of the Board. Following this decision 
they were to receive the following amounts at the end of every year, as severance and 
goodwill payments (Appendix F): 

1994 VT240,OOO each (backdated to the commencement of operations) 
1995 VT200,OOO each (when a member ceased to be a Board member due to 

change in the Government) 
1996 VT2.500 per month for the period served as a Board member 

In December 1994 the directors agreed that each Board member be given a good-will 
payment backdated to the time when the company commenced its operations (1992). 
Pursuant to such decision, seven directors received VT240,OOO each totaling 
VT1,680,000). This was for the period 199211993 and was approved by the 
shareholders on 1 September 1995 during their meeting. Under section 31 of the 
Companies Act (CAP 191) the remuneration of the directors shall be determined by the 
company in general meetings. 

In 1995 no severance and good will payments were made as all the directors remained 
as members of the Board. 

Under section 202 of the Companies Act (CAP 191) it is unlawful to give any director of 
a company any payment by way of compensation for loss of office or as consideration 
for or in connection with his retirement from office unless the amount paid is disclosed 
to the members of the company and the proposal is approved by the company. These 
payments were not disclosed to the shareholders of the company. 

Mr. Kalmer Vocor stated that the backdated directors' fees of VT240,OOO was approved 
by the shareholders at their annual general meeting of 1 September 1995. According 
to the minutes of the meeting the amount was not disclosed to the shareholders as 
required by the Act. The matter was discussed generally and was endorsed by the 
shareholders without disclosing the amount. 

In two instances the Board of Director's fees have been increased retroactively. These 
were later put forward to the shareholders meeting for approval. The shareholders 
approved the increases. Both Mr. Pikioune and Mr. Vocor were present at the 
shareholders meetings when the increases were approved. 

During the various Board meetings in 1995 the Board discussed the company 
accountant's monthly report on the profits and losses made each month. 

Meeting dates 1 Months losses made 1 
l I 

19 December 1995 

9 August 1995 
6 July 1995 
6 July 1995 

In contrast to Government owned statutory bodies and companies, the NISCOL Board 
of Directors are entitled to severance and goodwill payments when they cease to be 
directors at the rate of VT2,500 per month for each year served. The Office of the 
Ombudsman was informed that the directors of these statutory bodies and companies 
do not get any benefits when they cease to be members of their various Boards: 
- Vanuatu Broadcasting and Television Corporation 

11 April 1995 
11 April 1995 

September 1995 

June 1995 
March 1995 
April 1995 

Company made losses (amount nc 
stated) 
Net loss VT590,162 
Loss of VT2,893,726 
Loss of VT1,893,139 

December 1995 
January l995 
February 1995 

Total losses for 3 months 
VT1,200,784 



- Air Vanuatu 
- National Housing Corporation (NHC) 

ADVANCES (MONEY ADVANCED TO BOARD MEMBERS) 

From 1994 to 1997 considerable advances were made to members of the Board of 
Directors. This followed a decision by the Board at a meeting in August 1995 in 
Sydney, Australia. During this period the members of the Board's total advances were 
VT2,442,012. In 1997 a total of VT1,124,851 in previous advances remained to be 
repaid by all the Board members. Despite not having repaid their previous advances, 
management continued to grant advances to those who requested them (Appendix G). 

There were no arrangements made by management for the recovery of the outstanding 
advances. 

On 26 July 1996 the Board decided and unanimously agreed that the advances be 
written off. The Directors present at the meeting were: 

Mr Antoine Pikioune Chairman of the Board 
Mr Kalmer Vocor General Manager 
Mr William Tari Director 
Mr Theodore Solong Director 
Mr Leon Ova Director 
Mr Samuel Turget Director 

10.3 Their decision was submitted to the shareholder's meeting on 20 December 1996. The 
shareholders agreed to write off the individual accounts. The total amount written off 
was VT513,677 (Appendix H). The individual amounts are as follows: 

Mr Samuel Turget VT36,OOO 
Mr Theodore Solong VT71,000 
Mr William Tari VT48,520 
Mr Kalmer Vocor VT59.597 
Mr Leon Ova VTIO;OOO 
Mr Havo Moli VT57,OOO 
Mr Antoine Pikioune VT231,560 

10.4 The members of the Board who were present at the shareholder's meeting when it was . .. 
approved that the advances be written off were: 

Mr Antoine Pikioune - 
Mr Kalmer Vocor 
Mr Tom Bakeo 
Mr Erene Bongnaim 

10.5 The Chairman of the Board, Mr. Antoine Pikioune introduced the issue of writing off the 
advances and elaborated on it before the matter was discussed by the shareholders. 
After the shareholders had written off the advances the same Board members 
continued serving as Directors. They were: 

Antoine Pikioune Kalmer Vocor 
William Tari Leon Ova 
Theodore Solong (removed as director on 11 October 1996) 
Samuel Turget 

11. ALLOWANCES PAID TO THE CHAIRMAN 

11.1 On 16 April 1996 the Board discussed and agreed that the Chairman of the Board 
Mr. Antoine Pikioune, was to receive a responsibility allowance of VT30,OOO and a duty 
allowance of VT20,OOO. Also it was agreed that a telephone was to be installed at his 
house and NISCOL would meet the cost. There were no records showing what duties 
and responsibilities the Chairman had apart from chairing the Directors' meetings. 



11.2 These allowances were granted in addition to his fixed monthly allowance of VT30,OOO. 
The Chairman was based in Port Vila at the time and was getting paid his normal 
salary from the Public Service. Also he was not a full time employee of NISCOL. The 
Chairman's monthly allowances were: 

Responsibility Allowance Vt30,000 
Duty Allowance Vt20,000 
Director Monthly Allowances Vt30.000 

Vt80,OOO 

11.3 In December 2000 the General Manager, Mr. Kalmer Vocor, stated that the 
Chairman of the Board receives Vt90,000 per month, (an extra VT10,OOO). 

11.4 In March 2001 the Ombudsman received confirmation from Telecom 
Vanuatu Limited (TVL) that since 1998 the telephone has not been used. 
However, Niscol continued paying the monthly rental charge of VT1,350 to 
date'. 

12. TRAVEL & ACCOMODATION 

12.1 Expenses for travelling and accommodation have been increasing since 1993. 
According to the audited accounts the annual increases were as follows: 

1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 
(VT Million) 1.5 2.8 5.3 5.0 6.7 

12.2 One of the reasons that the travel and accommodation costs increased in 1995 was 
because the Board traveled to Australia on a familiarization visit to see how large 
wharves operate. At the same time it held a Board meeting in Sydney. 

12.3 From 1994 to 1997 the Board had been holding a number of meetings outside 
Luganville where the company's head office is based (Appendix I). During this period 
it held nine Board meetings in Port Vila and one in Sydney. It is noted that some of the 
meetings were held in restaurants in Port Vila. 

12.4 Mrs. Lydia Lui ( a former employee of NISCOL), stated that on many occasions 
management had been complaining about certain trips made by the manager and 
directors as they were unnecessary. It is alleged that these trips were for political 
matters but that the company had been meeting the costs. These included rental cars, 
restaurant bills and accommodation costs. 

13. BOARD VISIT TO SYDNEY 

13.1 Between the 6TH and the I6lh of August 1995 the Board members visited Sydney on a 
familiarization tour. On 9 August the Board held a meeting at Mr. William Longwah's 
Guesthouse. The meeting lasted for a few hours and closed at 1:43 p.m. Members 
present at the meeting were: 

Mr.Tom Bakeo Mr.Havo Moli 
Mr.Leon Ova Mr.William Tari 
Mr.Theodore Solong Mr.Kalmer Vocor (General Manager) 
Mrs. Lydia Lui (Minute Secretary) 

13.2 Out of the ten days that the Board spent in Sydney, the Board took three days to visit 
wharves and container depots while the remaining seven days were spent sight seeing 
and shopping. The total cost to NISCOL for the trip to Australia was VT2,556,339. 

' A telephone was installed in April 1996 at Mr Pikioune's house in Port Vila with full monthly 
expenses paid by Niscol. 



In May 1999 the General Manager informed this office that the main reason for the .. 
Board members going to Australia was to see how large wharves operate and that the 
knowledge gained from the trip would help them make necessary improvements to the . 
Company. 

Mr. William Tari stated that after the trip to Sydney the position of NISCOL improved by 
having its system computerized and its administration became more efficient. 

Mrs. Lydia Lui stated that she went to Sydney to take the Board minutes. She was 
there but returned during the first week immediately after the Board meeting. The rest 
of the Board members returned on 16 August 1995. 

Following the Sydney visit the financial position of NISCOL continued to deteriorate. In 
1995 the Company made a mere profit of VT317,OOO and in 1997 it fell to VT247,OOO. 

14. TRIP TO TAIWAN 

14.1 In early 1995 the General Manager Mr. Kalmer Vocor and Alex Bodiam of Auto, Marine 
& Heavy Equipment Services made a trip to Taiwan to purchase two trucks and a 
loader. The cost of the trip was borne by NISCOL. The total cost of the trip was 
VT1 , l  52,354. 

Mr. Kalmer Vocor stated that he did not go to Taiwan and he has never been there 
However, the following is an extract from the Board meeting on 11 April 1995. 

14.2 "K Vocor stated that he and Alex Bodiam had made a trip to Taiwan to purchase (2) 
trucks and a loader. Pamphlets of these were shown and K Vocor said the loan had 
already been approved by the Development Bank. Tom Bakeo asked about spare 
parts, K Vocor said they were available in Australia" 

15. FUEL 

15.1 The expenses on fuel from 1993 onwards have been increasing. They were as follows: 

Year. 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 
(VT. Million) 5.1 5 5.5 7.7 12.0 

. 
During the Directors meeting on 19 December 1994 comments were raised by a Board 
member that it was good to note a drop in the cost of fuel. The General Manager 
Mr. Kalmer Vocor stated that in 1995 measures would be taken to decrease costs on 
fuel spending. However, despite this assurance by the General Manager there was no 
reduction in the cost of fuel. Instead, fuel costs rose to VT7.7 million (1996) and to 
VT12 million(1997). This was a huge increase of over VT.4 million. 

15.2 On 30 November 1995 a national general election was held to elect new members of 
Parliament. 

During the Board meeting on 19 December 1995 a member of the Board of Directors 
raised the point that the cost of fuel was very high and there was a lot of misuse of 
company vehicles. The General Manger Mr. Kalrner Vocor explained that because it 
was a busy month for the election this caused the cost of fuel to increase (Appendix 
J). 

15.3 During the Board meeting on 26 July 1996 a Board member also stressed that 
company vehicles be driven only by authorized officers of the company to avoid 
criticisms from the general public. This indicated that vehicles belonging to NISCOL 
were being driven by people who may not be employees of the company or who were 
not authorized to drive the company's vehicles. 



15.4 During the general election in March 1998, eight hundred and ninety nine (899) liters of 
fuel belonging to NISCOL was authorized and used for transport to South and East 
Santo for UMP political party campaign teams. The total cost of the fuel was VT84,237. 
Although invoices were sent to UMP to settle the bills, no settlement has been made to- 
date. (Appendix K). 

15.5 In May 1999 Mr. Vocor informed this office that NISCOL only had an indirect role during 
the election. This was because the staff at the Company and Board members were 
supporters of various political parties. He further stated that he personally approved the 
issue of fuel to the South and East Santo UMP campaign teams and that the 
outstanding debt is an insignificant amount when compared to the total value of the 
company's assets. The amount has not been repaid and has been treated as a 
donation to UMP. 

15.6 In her reply to the working paper Mrs. Lydia Lui stated that the Manager and the 
Chairman were allowed to draw fuel for their personal use at any time whether on 
official business, personal or on political party business including political campaigns. 
The costs were being met by NISCOL. 

16. DONATIONS 

16.1 During the period from 1993 to 1997 NISCOL was giving donations to different 
communities and sports clubs. The figures for donations have been increasing steadily 
over these periods as follows: 

Year. 1993 1994 1995 1996 1997 
(VT Million) .2 .3 .9 .8 2.7 

16.2 During the Directors' meeting in Sydney on 9 August 1995, the Board went through the 
list of debtors. During the meeting the Board agreed that the advances under 
Mr. Antoine Pikioune's name totaling VT370,980 were in fact for the UMP. 
Subsequently, the Board decided to write off the debt as a donation to the party 
(Appendix L). The board members present at the meeting were; Mr. Antoine Pikioune, 
Mr.Tom Bakeo, Mr. Havo Moli, Mr. Leon Ova, Mr. William Tari, Mr. Theodore Solong 
and Mr. Kalmer Vocor. 

16.3 Mr. Kalmer Vocor stated that there is nothing wrong with the donations because these 
are spread around the provinces that are shareholders of NISCOL. However, he did not 
comment on the decision of the Board in Sydney regarding the VT370,980 that was 
written off as a donation to a political party. 

16.4 In reply to the working paper Mr. William Tari stated that donations were part of the 
Board's decision to assist various communities in the respective provinces and many 
communities are happy with the decision. However, he did not comment on the 
decision the Board made in Sydney regarding the VT370,980 that was written off and 
taken as a donation, not to a community, but to a political party. 

17. DEBTORS 

17.1 From 1993 the total of trade and other debtors has been increasing steadily. Provisions 
for write off to cover debts have also increased between 199411996, The figures for 
both trade and other debtors were as follows: 

Year 1993 1994 1995 1996 
Trade Debtors (VT million) 2 1 16 23 36 
Other Debtors (VT million) 2 2 3 5 

17.2 On 31 May 1996 the Board of Directors approved and wrote off various bad debts 
totaling VT1,015,041. The debts owing to various individuals, SantoIMalo Sports 
Association and SantoIMalo Local Government Council. The Board also decided to 
write off advances totaling VT370,980 under the name of Antoine Pikioune. The Board 



decided during the meeting to transfer this amount under the name of Mr. Pikioune to 
UMP Party and approved that the amount be written off. . 

17.3 In February 1997 the company's auditors wrote to the General Manager . 
Mr. Kalmer Vocor and commented that the ratio of doubtful debts to debtors was 
extremely high. He stated that the Company (NISCOL) must put in place new 
procedures to better control the level of doubtful debts. The Auditors recommended 
that: 

adequate checks be made on the customer's ability to pay before giving credit; 
outstanding bills must be followed up promptly; 
they put a credit limit on slow paying customers, and 
smaller customers must not be given credit but must pay cash. 

Despite the Auditors' recommendations, the Company took no notice and appeared to 
continue giving credit to customers. Some customers had not settled previous debts. 
This was particularly noticeable in regard to inter-island traders. 

17.4 In June 1999 the Ombudsman was informed by the accountant of NISCOL that the total 
owing by UMP party of VT731,155 was written off during the Board meeting on 9 
August 1995 in Sydney. This written off amount was treated as a donation. During that 
meeting the Board decided that the UMP debt be written off and treated as donations. 
But with regard to the other debtors, the Company was directed by the Board to write 
warning letters followed by a threat to take legal action if they do not settle outstanding 
debts. 

Those present at the Board meeting were: 

Messrs. Antoine Pikioune Chairman 
Tom Bakeo Director 
Havo Moli Director 
Leon Ova Director 
William Tari Director 
Theodore Solong Director 
Kalmer Vocor General Manager 

In July 1999 the General Manager advised the Ombudsman that a complete review of 
the debtor's system had been put in place following the auditor's recommendation. . - 

17.6 In August 1999 the Assistant Manager of NISCOL Mr. J Jondy Bule informed this Office 
that the Company may not have followed up on these debts because it was too much 
of an effort to chase up such small amounts. He went on to state that the amount owed - - 
by SantoIMalo Local Government Council was not followed up because it changed its 
name to Sanma Provincial Government. 

18. DISCOUNT TO SANTO VENEERS AND TIMBERS LTD 

18.1 On 16 April 1996 the Board of Directors agreed that Santo Veneers and Timbers Ltd. 
be given a 10% discount on stevedoring fees on the volume of logs more than 500 cm3 
exported by the company. If the company exported more than 500 cm3 the discount 
would be increased to 20%. On 2 May 1996 the Board of Directors further agreed that 
NISCOL accept a 40% discount for a period of one year after which it would be 
reviewed. At the meeting Mr. Vocor stated that if the Company was offered a 50% 
discount this would make a container worth VT22.135. On 12 June 1998 the Board 
agreed to reduce the discount to 25%. 

18.2 The Directors' decision resulted in NISCOL losing quite a substantial amount in 
revenue. On 17 Apr~l 1998 the accountant brought the matter to the attention of 
Mr. Kalmer Vocor. In his letter he stated that because the Company gave a 40% 
discount this was equivalent to a VT11 .l 86.056 loss in revenue. 



19.1 On 10 September 1996 the Directors approved the purchase of a new 7 ton forklift at a 
cost of around VT6.5 million. The machine arrived in Vila and was cleared at customs 
by Bodiam Auto, Marine and Heavy Equipment services on behalf of NISCOL. 

According to the Custom's declaration records the value of the forklift was USD 
38,349,OO which is equivalent to VT4,189,628 at CIF. Bodiam paid a total of 
VT293,274 for service tax as the machine was exempted from duty. 

19.2 In 1996 the Chief mechanic was sent to Korea for training. The cost to NISCOL was 
VT120,OOO whereas all the expenses for the trip were paid by Bodiam. 

19.3 In February 1997 an invoice was sent to NISCOL by Bodiam showing that the total cost 
of the machine plus service tax and turn over tax was VT7,309,995. NISCOL 
completed the payment to Bodiam over various dates. 

19.4 Mr. William Tari stated that the purchases of the new equipment were justified and that 
the Office of the Ombudsman did not know the condition of the equipment when it was 
purchased from the previous management nor did the office know its condition when in 
operation. 

19.5 In November 1997 the Board approved the purchase of two new forklifts for NISCOL. 

19.6 On 12 January 1998 the General Manager Mr. Kalmer Vocor accepted a quotation from 
Bodiam Auto Marine & Heavy Equipment Services (VT27,608,315) for two Daewoo 
forklifts of different sizes (D40S and a D150 forklifts). During the same month (January) 
the first payment and installment of VT13,804,157 was made to Bodiam. The second 
payment of VT8 million and last payment of VT8,286,899 was made in May of the 
same year. 

The total costs including Cost Insurance and Freight (CIF) for the two forklifts from the 
supplier in Korea was USDI 18.766.00. This was equivalent to VT14.888.505 
(Appendix M). 

19.7 In 1998 the following payments were made to Bodiam for the forklifts: (Appendix N) 

27 January 1998 
8 May 1998 
23 May 1998 

VT13,804,157 (first payment) 
VT8,000,000 (second payment) 
VT8,286,899 (thirdlfinal payment). 

The payment in January 1998 was made prior to the arrival of the forklifts. The 
machines arrived in May 1998. 

The total cost of the machines at CIF from the supplier was VT14,888,505 whereas 
NISCOL paid Bodiam the total of VT30,091,056 including his Service Tax refund of 
VT2,484,742. 

19.8 On 25 May 1998 Bodiam informed NISCOL that he had paid the service tax on the two 
forklifts and he was to be refunded an amount of VT2,484,742. According to the 
calculation on the Custom's declaration form, Bodiarn only paid a total of VT1,042,195 
in service tax whereas the Company paid the total of VT2,484,742 for service tax. 
(Appendix 0). 

During an interview with the Office of the Ombudsman Mr. Alex Bodiam indicated that it 
is standard business practice for him to maximize the amount of profit he can obtain. 
This is normal practice for the business. He advised that he will make money any 
where he can. 



In May 1999 Mr. Vocor informed the Office of the Ombudsman that NISCOL did not .. 
invite tenders for the supply of forklifts as it is not usual NISCOL practice nor does the 
company have any obligation to invite tenders. The Company used Bodiam because he . 
has the experience and knows what the company needs. Bodiam continues to maintain 
and provide services to NISCOL heavy-duty equipment whenever he is asked to. 

20. PURCHASE OF A GENERATOR (for personal use). 

20.1 On 7 July 1994 Mr. Vocor purchased a generator allegedly for personal use from 
Vanuatu Auto Suzuki at the cost of VT100,OOO. The cost of the generator was included 
and paid for by NISCOL to Vanuatu Auto Suzuki totaling VT420,OOO. The cheque was 
issued by the Company bearing the signature of Mr. K. Vocor. This amount is still 
outstanding and owed by Mr. Vocor. (Appendix P). In addition, this office has received 
confirmation from the Chief Mechanic of the Company that NISCOL has only one 
generator which has been used as a standby generator since 1980. 

The General manager stated that he has paid for the generator by deductions from his 
wages. He did not however, submit any documents showing the deductions. 

21. PURCHASE OF SPARE PARTS 

21.1 In 1997 and 1998 NISCOL placed orders with a New Zealand firm for spare parts. At 
the same time Mr. Vocor also placed orders for spare parts for his private vehicles from 
the same supplier. The costs of Mr. Vocor's spare parts were included in the invoice to 
NISCOL and subsequently the Company paid for both orders. The Accounts Clerk at 
the time prepared an invoice for VT 316,459 and sent it to the General Manager to 
settle the amount with NISCOL. To date, there is no evidence to show that Mr. Vocor 
has refunded this amount and settled the account with NISCOL (Appendix Q). 

In the meantime, Mr. Vocor stated that he has paid for the spare parts by deductions 
from his wages. However, he did not submit any documents showing the deductions 
from his wages to support this claim of repayment. 

22. PURCHASE OF TIMBER WITH MONTHLY ENTITLEMENT FUNDS. 

22.1 In November 1997 the Assistant Manager Mr. J. Jondy Bule wrote to Santo Veneers & 
Timber Ltd. to supply various sizes of timber to NISCOL. The total cost of the timber 
was VT534,539 and was paid for by NISCOL (Appendix R). However the Office of the . - 
Ombudsman was advised by the Assistant Manager that NISCOL paid only VT518,500 
for the timber. 

. . 
22.2 In June 1999 the Assistant Manager Mr. J Jondy Bule advised the Office of the 

Ombudsman that the timber paid for by NISCOL was for the two directors namely 
Mr. Samuel Turget and Mr. Leon Ova. NISCOL paid for their timber instead of giving 
them their cash entitlement. This amount was deducted from the payment owing to 
NISCOL by Santo Veneers and Timber company. 

22.3 On 19 December 1996 the Directors agreed that each director be entitled to VT2,500 
per each month they served as director. Both directors were appointed to the Board on 
the following dates: 

Samuel Turget 19 December 1995 
Leon Ova 16 January 1992 

Following this decision in 1996, the two directors would have been entitled only to 
these amounts up to end of 1997 respectively: 

Samuel Turget 
Leon Ova 



The total amount was VT.180,000 for both members. The total cost of timber was 
VT518,500. They gained an additional VT338.500 in entitlements by the purchase of 
this timber. 

The payment of the timber costing VT518,500 was more than their earned entitlement 
from the date they were each appointed to the Board to December 1997. 

23. USE OF NISCOL FUNDS FOR POLITICAL CANDIDATES FEES 

23.1 On 10 February 1998 leading up to the March 1998 general election, the Second 
Secretary of the Office of the Prime Minister Mr. William Tari, wrote to General 
Manager of NISCOL (Mr. Kalmer Vocor) asking him to negotiate on his behalf the 
amount of VT1.5 million. The money would be used by the UMP Party to pay for the 
candidates' fees during the general election. Mr. Tari further stated that the money 
would be refunded in February of the same year. 

23.2 Following this request, Mr. Vocor and his Assistant Mr. Jacobson J Bule issued a 
Company cheque for the amount of VT1.5 million (Appendix S). The cheque was paid 
into an account called Sons & Transport at the National Bank of Vanuatu. In May 1998 
the Board decided that the General Manager write to UMP and ask that the money be 
paid back. The Board also agreed that this money be treated as a loan (Appendix T). 
The amount represents thirty (30) candidates' fees at VT50,OOO each. 

23.3 On l l May 1998 the General Manager Mr. Kalmer Vocor wrote to the President of 
UMP asking that the money be paid back to NISCOL but his attempt was unsuccessful. 
The money is still outstanding and has not yet been repaid to NISCOL (Appendix U). 

23.4 On 21 July 1999 Mr. Vocor advised the Office of the Ombudsman that the payment of 
this money did not have the prior approval of the Board. The Board was advised of the 
payment to UMP at a Board meeting in May 1998. 

Neither Mr. Kalmer Vocor nor Mr. William Tari submitted any comments on this matter 
in their responses to the preliminary report on this case. 

24. LOAN TO EAST SANTO UMP COMMITTEE 

24.1 On 16 February 1998 the Mr. Kalmer Vocor issued a Niscol cheque for VT50,OOO to the 
East Santo UMP Committee (Appendix V). In May 1998 the Board agreed that the 
money be classified as a loan (Appendix W). At the meeting the General Manager 
informed the Board that the money had been paid. The money was repaid sometime in 
March 1998. 

25. FUNDING A POLITICAL MEETING ON PAAMA. 

25.1 At the request of VP Sub-committee in Luganville for assistance, Mr. Kalmer Vocor 
issued a NISCOL cheque for VT20,OOO on 7 September 1998 to the Sub committee of 
the VP Congress on Paama. (Appendix X). 

25.2 in a letter to the Ombudsman, Mr. Vocor stated that he found it extraordinary that the 
Office of the Ombudsman was wasting time on such an insignificant amount of money. 

26. HIRE OF COMPANY VEHICLES FOR ELECTION CAMPAIGN 

26.1 During the Board meeting in May 1998 it was agreed by the Board that the hiring of 
vehicles during the election be classified as a donation (Appendix Y). There is no 
figure given for the hiring charge or for the cost to NISCOL. 

In July 1999 Mr. Vocor informed the Office that the Prime Minister at the time 
Mr. Serge Vohor made a request to NISCOL to use one of its vehicles during the 
campaign and since he was a high ranking politician, a Company vehicle was given to 
him. Mr. K.Vocor authorized the loan of the vehicle to Mr. Serge Vohor without charge. 



27. HOUSING ALLOWANCE 

27.1 On 4 August 1994 the Board approved housing allowances to the staff of the company. 
Those who were housed by the company were now receiving VT12,OOO each month 
while those who were not housed by the company were getting VT15,OOO per month. 
Employees who were not on contract were receiving VT5,000 per month. The General 
Manager's monthly housing allowance was VT50,OOO. 

It is not clear why staff who were provided accommodation by the company were 
entitled to a housing allowance. They each were receiving VT12,000/month despite 
being housed by NISCOL. 

28. PURCHASE OF PROPERTY (OFFICIAL RESIDENCE OF GENERAL MANAGER) 

28.1 In 1995 the Board decided to purchase a property in Luganville for the official residence 
of the General Manager of NISCOL. The property cost VT7 million. During the Board 
meeting on 6 July of the same year, the Board was informed that VT5 million was 
borrowed from a bank and the other VT2 million was paid by NISCOL. 

Following the purchase, the General Manager did not use the building but went to live 
in his own house. During the time he lived in his own house he was getting VT50,OOO 
each month as housing allowance. The newly acquired property that was then rented 
out at VT50,OOO per month. 

28.2 Mrs. Lydia Lui informed this office that after purchasing the building the General 
Manager continued living in a rented house paid for by NISCOL. The General Manager 
vacated the rented building and went to live in his own new house. NISCOL continued 
to pay rent to the General Manager for living in his own house. In the meantime, the 
building that was purchased was rented out monthly for VT50,OOO. Even though 
NISCOL received this monthly rental, the company did not benefit as the rent received 
was offset by the monthly housing allowance paid to the General Manager. 

29. FINDINGS 

Finding 1: The Board of Directors had a conflict of interest and used their 
positions for personal gain. I t  is a breach of Article 66(1)&(2) of 
the Constitution. Numerous board decisions through the years . 
were based on party politics as opposed t o  sound business 
management principles and ethics. Management and Board 
Members used NISCOL financial resources for political and 
personal gratification. 

From December 1994 to December 1996 the Directors increased their daily sitting 
allowance from VT5,000 per day to a fixed amount of VT60,OOO per month. This 
increase was done without due regard to the financial position of the company. If the 
company was not making a profit the Board members still got paid the allowance. 
Even if the Board meeting only lasted a few hours they would still be paid the monthly 
allowance. This indicates that they were more interested in their own benefit than 
maximizing profits for the shareholders of the company. 

The Board of Directors Fees was an item included in the agenda and was approved in 
the shareholders meeting on 5 September 1995. The amount to be paid out was not 
disclosed to the shareholders as required by Section 202 of the Companies Act. 

Finding 2: The General Manager, Mr. Kalmer Vocor acted irresponsibly by 
issuing NISCOL fuel to a political party for campaign purposes. 
He misused Company fuel under his care and management. 

Mr. Vocor's action was blatantly irresponsible. He used his position to support a 
political party of which he is a member at the expense of NISCOL and the 
shareholders. He used the fuel belonging to the Company to support his political party 
and later took part in the discussion to write off the amount owing. Mr. Vocor was 



appointed to the position as general manager to manage NISCOL and its affairs on 
behalf of and in the best interests of the shareholders. Any decision taken has to be in 
the best interest of NlCOL and especially the shareholders. As a result of his action 
NlSCOL lost VT84,237 worth of fuel. His action constitutes a misuse of NISCOL energy 
resources in the form of fuel. 

Finding 3: Mr. Kalmer Vocor misused the company's money by purchasing 
a generator for personal use without refunding the money. He 
used his position for personal gain and as such i s  in  breach of 
the Leadership Code 

Mr Vocor used his position to sign a company cheque to Auto Motor Suzuki to 
purchase a generator at the cost of Vt100,OOO with the full knowledge that the 
generator was for his personal use. He further allowed his personal account to be paid 
from NISCOL funds. His action constitutes a misappropriation of NISCOL funds. 

Finding 4: Mr. Kalmer Vocor and Mr. William Tari's actions are blatantly 
unreasonable in misusing and misappropriating NISCOL funds. 
They directed and used company money for political gain. 

Mr. Vocor and Mr. Tari used their positions as directors to access NISCOL funds 
without the consent of the shareholders. They used the VT1.5 million at the expense of 
the shareholders to gain political support for the political party of which they are 
members. After giving the money to the political party they failed to recover the money. 
Their actions constitute a misuse and misappropriation of funds and demean the 
positions they held (Board Member and General manager respectively). 

Finding 5: Mr. Kalmer Vocor misused and misappropriated NISCOL funds. 
He used Company money on political matters without the prior 
knowledge of the Shareholders of NISCOL. 

On 10 February 1998 Mr. Vocor issued a cheque worth VT50.000 to East Santo UMP 
committee. Also on September 1998 he issued another cheque worth VT20,OOO to the 
Luganville VP sub-committee. The use of NISCOL funds for political gain and support 
is blatantly unreasonable and consti!utes a misuse and misappropriation of company 
financial resources. This money belongs to the people of Vanuatu through their shares 
in NISCOL. Such funds should not have been used in this manner. As the General 
manager of a company owned by the people of Vanuatu, Mr. K Vocor has a duty to 
ensure that company money is spent in the best interest of NISCOL and the 
Shareholders. The Board's approval had not been sought. His comment to the 
Ombudsman during enquiry that he was wasting his time in this insignificant amount 
was unprincipled. 

Finding 6: Mr. Kalmer Vocor's action in giving away a NISCOL vehicle to  
Mr. Serge Vohor, President of UMP and then Prime Minister 
without charging any hiring fee i s  blatantly unreasonable and 
constitutes a misuse and mismanagement of company asset. 

NISCOL belongs to the 5 Shareholders, namely the four provinces Torba, Sanma, 
Malampa, Penama and the Vanuatu Government represented by the Director of 
Provincial Affairs. Rather than the shareholders, a single political party, UMP, gained 
from the free use of the vehicle. 

Finding 7: Mr. Vocor and Mr Tari's actions have resulted in a substantial 
loss of VT1.5 million of the Shareholders' money and a financial 
gain by a political party of which both men were or are members. 

The directors' actions in giving away the shareholder's money to the UMP party has 
resulted in a loss of profit for the shareholders. Both Messrs. Vocor and Tari misused 
the positions they held as Board members by having access to the shareholders 
money and using it to support a political party. Their actions constitute a 
misappropriation of NISCOL funds. 



Finding 8: Mr. Kalmer Vocor failed to  publicly call for tenders for the 
purchase of heavy equipment (two forklifts). Instead, he did 
business directly with only one importerlcompany (Bodiam 
Auto, Marine, & Heavy Equipment Services) in Port Vila. ." 

Mr. Vocor's decision to allow only Bodiam to import heavy machinery and to pay 
Bodiam over VT30 million was blatantly unreasonable and could be considered in 
breach of Government Tendering procedures. He failed to call for competitive tendering 
from suppliers of heavy machinery by not tendering publicly. As a result of this action, 
NISCOL had no choice but to pay whatever price was being charged by Bodiam Auto, 
Marine, & Heavy Equipment Services. 

The Office of the Ombudsman is concerned of the way in which NISCOL Management 
went about the heavy equipment and machinery was purchased. Since the total cost of 
this equipment was very high and expensive, it is a normal statutory requirement for 
agencies using public funds to tender for the supply of the same. That would have 
allowed NISCOL the ability to select the most reasonable price for the heavy equipment 
that best meets its needs. 

Finding 9: Mr. Kalmer Vocor and the NISCOL Board of Directors failed to  
ensure that the Company operated on a sound and realistic 
budget which sets out its targets on income and limits on its 
expenditures. Their failure to  draw up a proper budget for the 
company to  operate constitutes a lack of sound management 
practice and lack of proper corporate strategic planning to 
promote NISCOL objectives. 

A company cannot operate efficiently without having a proper budget drawn up by its 
Management and subsequently approved by its Board. It is an important control 
mechanism, because it sets out the company's targets in terms of income and also 
places a limit on expenditures. To operate without a budget is bad management 
practice. 

Finding 10: The decision of the Board to award themselves a visit to  
Australia was blatantly unreasonable, thus constituting an 
unnecessary company expense. 

The General Manager Mr. Kalmer Vocor and the Board members used their positions 
to travel to Australia at the expense of the shareholders. The spending of VT2.5 million 
on the trip was a waste of NISCOL funds. It was not worth sending the whole Board to 
Sydney. Out of the ten (10) days that the Board spent in Sydney, three (3) days were 
spent in visiting container depots and wharves while seven (7) days were spent in sight 
seeing and personal shopping. As such, this action was blatantly unreasonable. 

Finding 11: The Board members had a conflict of interest in deciding to  write 
off a debt owing t o  NISCOL by the political party to  which they 
belong, while at the same time they pursued other debtors. This 
i s  in direct breach of Article 66(l)(a) of the Constitution which 
places a duty on a leader not to  place himself in  a conflict of 
interest situation. 

The action and decision of the Board members in writing off the debt of VT731,155 
owed by the UMP political party to NISCOL and to pursue the other debtors was 
biased. The Board members allowed their political party to obtain advances from 
NISCOL at the expense of the Shareholders while they decided to pursue other 
debtors. 

Finding 12: The Board of Directors of NISCOL has allowed UMP to use the 
Company as its private lending institution where party officials 
can borrow money without having to pay i t  back. 



Since 1994, Board members have been taking personal advances from NISCOL funds. 
Some have refunded their advances while others have not. They have been using 
NISCOL as their own lending institution where they can take advances at the expense 
of the shareholders in the company. The money is rarely repaid and is usually written 
off. Their personal interest cost the shareholders VT513,677. 

Finding 13: The Board members abused and misused the positions they held 
by making advances from NISCOL Funds. They breached Article 
66(2) of the Constitution and Section 201 of the Companies Act. 

Article 66(2) of the Constitution prevents leaders from using their office for personal 
gain. In addition, under section 201 of the Companies Act (CAP 191) it is unlawful for a 
company such as NISCOL using public funds to make loans to its directors. The 
advances made contravene the Act. 

Finding 14: The Board's decision to  grant increases in  the salaries during 
the time when the profit was down shows a lack of proper 
decision-making process based o n  sound management 
consideration and practice. 

The Board should have taken the Company's financial status into consideration before 
deciding on these increases. It would have been better if these increases were made 
when and if the financial position of the company had improved. The decision to 
increase the salaries at a time when the company's profits were down showed a 
serious lack of comprehension of simple financial management decisions by the 
directors. 

Finding 15: The Board members have breached Section 202 of the 
Companies Act by approving and granting themselves 
severance and goodwill payments. 

The Board of Directors made the decision to pay themselves severance and goodwill 
payments without due regard to the requirements of the Companies Act. The increase 
was also decided upon despite their having been informed by the accountant that the 
company had net losses and minimal profits. These increases were granted at the 
expense of the shareholders. 

Finding 16: Messrs. Pikioune and Vocor's presence in  the shareholders 
meeting where i t  was decided that the director's advances, 
including their own, be written off shows a conflict of interest. 
Both directors should have declared their interest and taken 
leave of absence from the meeting. This was in direct breach of 
Article 66(l)(a) of the Constitution. 

Their presence at the Shareholder's meeting amounted to a conflict of interest as they 
both were present and took an active part in the discussion and decision that was 
subsequently made in their favor. 

Finding 17: The decision of the Board members to allow 40% discount for 
stevedoring fee to  Santo Veneers & Timbers Ltd. was blatantly 
unreasonable and without justification. 

The decision of the Board indicated that the Board members had very little idea of what 
they were in effect approving. Their decision resulted in a direct loss of revenue to 
NISCOL that amounted to over VT11 million. This resulted in a marginal profit of only 
VT247,706 in 1997. 

Finding 18: The action of the Assistant Manager, Mr Jacobson J Bule, in 
requesting timber for the two directors at a cost of VT518,500, 
(more than their earned entitlements) which was then paid for 
from NISCOL funds was improper. 



The Assistant Manager failed to spend NISCOL funds correctly. As a result of his 
action VT338,500 was unreasonably spent. This matter was never brought up at the 
Board meetings for approval. The unauthorized amount spent was not refunded by the 
two directors. 

30. RECOMMENDATIONS 

Recommendation 1: The Minister for lnternal Affairs must ensure immediately 
that all the Shareholders are properly represented on the 
Board of Directors of NISCOL 

The past Board of Directors consisted of people who were allegedly appointed on the 
basis of political party affiliation. As a result of such an arrangement the provinces of 
Torba, Malampa and Penama were not represented on the NISCOL Board. The 
members of the Board were mainly from Sanma Province and the Government. The 
Minister of Internal Affairs must ensure fair representation of all the Shareholders on 
future Boards. 

Recommendation2: The Presidents of the four Provinces and the 
Government should make changes to  the Memorandum 
and Articles of Association of the Northern Island 
Stevedoring Company Limited (NISCOL) to ensure and 
safeguard company interest, reduce discretion and 
increase compliance within Management. 

A review leading to changes in the Memorandum and Articles of Association would 
allow the Shareholders to recruit a General Manager who is not a nominated member 
of the Board. The appointment of a general manager should be made on merit. There 
should be a clear direction for NISCOL to follow on its social organizations portfolio, 
sponsorships and contributions. 

Recommendation 3: The Police Commissioner i s  to conduct an investigation 
on the alleged misappropriation and granting of NISCOL 
funds to  non-company employees and political parties 
by the General Manager. 

The action of the manager in using NISCOL assets in an arbitrary fashion is not proper . - 
and may constitute misappropriation. He is acting on behalf of the shareholders and is 
to ensure that the assets of the company are used in their best interests. Giving 
NISCOL funds to friends and political parties by the manager without the approval of 
the Board of Directors constitutes misuse and misappropriation of company funds. - . 
Recommendation 4: The Shareholders review the current Board members' 

excessive fixed monthly allowance of VT60,OOO with the 
view to  replacing such with sitting allowances only. 

It would be in the best interests of the shareholders to ensure that their provinces (and 
constituents) get the best return on their investments. Since all travelling and 
accommodation expenses of the Board members are met by NISCOL during Board 
meetings, it would be prudent to pay only sitting allowances. Public servants who are 
appointed as directors should only be paid sitting allowances but not monthly 
allowances. Being a public servant who is being paid by the citizens of Vanuatu each 
month and at the same time getting paid VT60,OOO per month for being a member of a 
board in a company (which is owned by the citizens of Vanuatu) is not proper and 
unethical by any account. Board members are not employees of NISCOL, therefore 
they should not be entitled to such monthly allowances. 

Recommendation 5: The Shareholders should launch a civil suit against the 
following directors and the General Manager who 
approved the write off of their own outstanding 
advances on 26 July 1996. 



Mr Antoine Pikioune Mr Kalmer Vocor (General Manager) 
Mr William Tari Mr Leon Ova 
Mr Theodore Solong Mr Samuel Turget 

The directors who advanced from NISCOL funds and later made the decision to write 
off the advances showed a conflict of interest and disrespect for the Shareholders. 
Even though the individual amounts were written off, the same members continued to 
serve on the Board as directors and continued to receive sitting and monthly 
allowances. They did not make any effort to settle their outstanding advances with the 
Company. 

Recommendation 6: The Shareholders should recover all money allegedly 
owned to  NISCOL to  include the VT338,500 for the 
timber paid by NISCOL and given to Messrs. Samuel 
Turget and Leon Ova. 

The two Board member's entitlement amounted to less than the total cost of the timber. 
Since NISCOL paid for their timber, the difference should be recovered by NISCOL 
forthwith. 

Recommendation 7: A proper tendering procedure based on Government 
Tendering Laws for purchasing heavy machinery must 
be put in  place by  the NISCOL Management. This 
procedure must be recommended to and approved by 
the Board of Directors. 

It would be in the best interests of the Shareholders to invite tenders to supply and 
maintain heavy machinery to NISCOL. By restricting the ordering of heavy machinery 
to Alex Bodiam Auto Marine & Heavy Equipment Services, there is no competitive 
pricing. As a result of this restriction NISCOL has spent excessively and extravagantly 
for its machinery and equipment over the years. 

Recommendation 8: The Police Commissioner should launch a criminal 
investigation into the misappropriation of funds against 
Board members with respect to  the excessive granting 
of severance and goodwill payments to themselves. 

The Police Commissioner should consider launching a criminal investigation against 
Board members who misappropriated company funds in granting severance and 
allowance payments to themselves. 

Recommendation 9: The Police Commissioner should launch a criminal 
investigation into the actions of Mr Vocor and Mr Tari in 
giving VT1.5 million to  the UMP without the approval of 
the shareholders. 

A criminal investigation should be launched into the actions of Mr. Vocor and Mr. Tari 
for the misappropriation of VT1.5 million of shareholder's money. As directors, they had 
full knowledge of their responsibility to the Shareholders. The internal arrangements 
they made in giving the money to the UMP constitute a misappropriation of funds. 

Recommendation 10: The Police Commissioner should launch a criminal 
investigation into Mr. Vocor's purchase of a generator 
and spare parts for personal use at NISCOL's expense. 

The Police Commissioner should launch a criminal investigation into Mr. Vocor's use of 
NISCOL funds to purchase a generator for his personal use. Mr. Vocor purchased a 
generator for VT100,OOO and did not refund the money to NISCOL. He spent a further 
VT316,459 of company money on spare parts for his personal vehicle. Despite having 
an invoice sent to him by the accounts clerk, Mr. Vocor did not settle the account. 



Recommendation 11: The Shareholders should meet within the next three 
months to reconsider the present composition of the 
Board and the position of the General manager with the 
view to replacing those concerned forthwith. 

.- 

31. CONCLUSION 

31.1 NISCOL is not a private company as claimed by the General Manager, 
Mr. Kalmer Vocor. It is a company owned by the four provinces and the government of 
the Republic of Vanuatu using public funds to purchase shares in the company. Since 
the provinces and the government hold shares in the company, the company must 
conduct its business in the best interest of the Shareholders. 

31.2 As NISCOL was set up with public funds, the Ombudsman has jurisdiction to 
investigate the working of the company pursuant to the Ombudsman Act of l995 as per 
Section 11 of the Interpretation Act (Cap132). 

31.3 For the proper management of the company NISCOL requires annual budgets and 
regular audit of accounts. A balance sheet showing company funds should be made 
available to NISCOL's shareholders and the general public as a matter of policy. 

31.4 There should be a tendering procedure put in place for the purchase of heavy 
equipment and other services costing Vt.5 million and over. 

31.5 Most importantly, NISCOL must nominate a General Manager on merit, one who is free 
from political influence and whose sole purpose it is to improve the company's 
performance. It is the duty of management to ensure that NISCOL is well run, efficient 
and profitable to benefit the shareholders, the citizens of Vanuatu. 

Dated the 20th day of April 2001 

Hannington G. ALATOA 
OMBUDSMAN OF THE REPUBLIC OF VANUATU 
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RESTRICTION ON ALTERATION OF ARTICLES 

40. (1) A company, being a private company, may not alter its articles in such manner 
and for the purpose that the company shall cease to be a private company except 
in accordance with the provisions of subsection (2). 

(2) A company, being a private company, which seeks to alter the provisions of its 
articles in order that the company shall cease to be a private company shall submit 
to the Minister details of the alteration and of the reasons therefor together with 
such further information as the Minister in his discretion may require, for the 
approval of the Minister and, unless the approval of the Minister thereof is sig- 
nified in writing, any resolution purporting to alter such provisions shall be null 
and void. 



LOANS TO DIRECTORS 

201. (1) It shall not be lawful for a company, other than a private exempted company 
whch is not a subsidiary of a public company, to make a loan to any person who is 
its director or a director of its holding company, or to enter into any guarantee or 
provide any security in connection with a loan made to such a person as aforesaid 
by any other person: 

Provided that nothing in this section shall apply either- 
(a) to anything done by a subsidiary, where the director is its holding company; 

or 
(6 )  subject to subsection (2), to anything done to provide any such person as 

aforesaid with funds to meet expenditure incurred or to be incurred by him 
for the purposes of the company or  for the purpose of enabling him properly 
to perform his duties as an officer of the company; or 

(c) in the case of a company whose ordinary business includes the lending of 
money or the giving of guarantees in connection with loans made by other 
persons, to anything done by the company in the ordinary course of that 
business. 

(2) Proviso (6 )  to subsection (1) shall not authorise the making of any loan, or the 
entering into any guarantee, o r  the provision of any security, except either- 
(a) with the prior approval of the company given at a general meeting at which 

the purposes of the expenditure and the amount of the loan or the extent of 
the guarantee or security, as the case may be, are disclosed; or 

(b) on condition that, if the approval of the company is not given as aforesaid at 
or before the next following annual general meeting, the loan shall be repaid 
or the liability under the guarantee or security shall be discharged, as the case 
may be, within 6 months from the conclusion of that meeting. 

(3) Where the approval of the company is not given as required by any such condi- 
tion, the directors authorising the making of the loan, or the entering into the 
guarantee, or the provision of the security, shall be jointly and severally liable to 
indemnify the company against any loss arising therefkom. 

(4) It shall be lawful for a private exempted company which is not a subsidiary of a 
public company to make a loan to any person who is its director or a director of its 
holding company, or to enter into any guarantee or provide any security in con- 
nection with a loan made to such person as aforesaid by another person, if- 
(a) the loan or the amount guaranteed or the value of the security provided does 

not exceed VT1,000.000; and 
( 6 )  particulars of the loan, or the guarantee or the security, as the case may be. 

have been disclosed to the members of the company and the members have 
by special resolution approved the making of the loan. or the entering into 
the guarantee or the provision of the security, as the case may be; and 

(c) the company is able to pay its debts in full as and when they become due out 
of its own monies. 

( 5 )  Any director authorising a loan, or authorising the giving of a guarantee or au- 
thorising the provision of a security in breach of subsection (4) shall be guilt!, of an 
offence and liable on conviction to imprisonment for a term not exceeding 6 
months or to a fine not exceeding VT1OO.OOO or to both: and such a director shall 
in addition be liable to indemnify the company against any loss arising therefrom. 



LAWS OF THE REPUBLIC OF VAMIATU 

CAP. 191.1 COMPANIES 

-. 
APPROVAL OF COMPANY REQUISITE FOR PAYMENTBY IT' TO DlRECTOR FOR LOSS OFOFFICE, ETC. 

Un.It shall not be lawful for a company to make to any director of the company any 
payment by way of compensation for loss of office, or as consideration for or in 
connection with his retirement from office, without particulars with respect to the 
proposed payment (including the amount thereof) being disclosed to members of the 
company and the proposal being approved by the company. 



APPENDIX C 

Increase in Board Members Allowances 

9 August 1995 

31 May 1996 

10 September 1996 

19 December 1996 

3 October 1997 

An additional Vt2,000 increase in Board members 
allowances. 

Increased Directors subsistence allowances from 
Vt5,000 to Vt10,OOO per day as from 31 May 1996. 

Directors fees increased to Vt30,OOO per month from 
1 October 1996. 

Directors fees increased to Vt30,OOO per month from 
1 September 1996 not 1 October 1996. 

Board members to receive Vt60,OOO per month to 
replace the sitting allowances from 1 October 1997. 



APPENDIX D 

Directors meetinas after increases of dailv sittina allowances 
to monthlv allowances 

Dates 

l l October 
6 November 
19 December 

28 February 
24 March 
25 April 
2 May 
24 June 
8 July 
14 August 
3 October 
28 November 

3 April 
- .  8 May 

12 June 
3 July 

- .  28 July 
6 August 
13 August 
25 September 
12 October 

Estimated No. of 

1 
1 
1.15 mins. 

2 
1 
2 
2 
55 mins. 
1.35 mins. 
55 mins. 
2.30 mins. 
1.50 mins. 

1.20 mins. 
1.40 mins. 
1.30 mins. 
1.25 mins. 
1.45 mins. 
50 mins. 
1 .l 0 mins. 
1.30 mins. 
2.30 mins. 



Cost to NISCOL in term of Board Members Allowances from October 1996 - 
Q'scember 19!38 

1996 (7 Director:; X 30,000Vt X 3 months 630,000Vt 

1997 (7 Directors X 30,000 X 9 months) 1,890,000Vt 

(7 Directors X 60,000 X 3 months) l ,260,000Vt 

1998 (7 Directors X 60,000 X 12 months) &OlQ,QQQ 

8,€120,000 



APPENDIX F 

Date of Directors rneetinq Discussion and resolutions 

11 February 1994 

19 December 1994 

19 December 1995 

Directors Mr W. Tari i talem se taem contract 
blong kampany i finis bambae yumi ol board of 
Directors i kat benefit long end blong contract or 
nomo. Chairman i talem se agenda ia bambae 
board oli jas lukluk long em next board miting. 

Goodwill payment to director of 10,000Vt to each 
Director per month for year 1992 and 1993 
(10,000 X 12 = 240,00OVt/Director). 
Directors to receive Vt240,OOO each for the past 
two years and that this privilege to be effective 
as from 19 December 1994. 

K. Vocor said that due to change of Government 
it was possible that there was going to be 
changes in the directors. The Chairman moved 
that those who were finishing will get a small 
present of Vt200,OOO each. 
Leon Ova seconded the mention. 
Accepted by W. Tari and seconded by L. Ova. 

NB - Shareholders meeting on 20 December 
1996 approved the Directors fees of Vt30,OOO 
and also Directors retirement allowance of 
Vt2,500 per month. 



APPENDIX G 

Advances to Board of Directors 

Years Names Total advances Outstanding 
balances 

1 9 9 4  Leon Ova 100,000 100,000 
Samuel Turget 33,000 11,000 
Antoine Pikioune 305,090 295,290 
Theodore Solong 35,000 25,000 
William Tari 30,000 30,000 

1 9 9 5  Samuel Turget 33,000 
Antoine Pikioune 144,420 144,420 
Theodore Solong 136,000 71,000 
William Tari 68,720 28,520 
Havo Moli 68,000 58,000 
Kalmer Vocor 1 12,000 72,000 

1 9 9 6  Antoine Pikioune 108,996 98,996 
Kalmer Vocor 14,890 14,890 

1 9 9 7  Havo Moli 8,000 8,000 
Antoine Pikioune 401,696 61,800 
Kalnier Vocor 630,350 83,085 
Leon Ova 60.000 20.000 
William Tari 50;000 
Samuel Turget 2,850 2,850 

2,342,012 1,124,851 

Leon Ova 120,000 
S. Turget 13,850 
T. Solong 96,000 
A. Pikioune 600,506 
W. Tari 58,520 
H. Moli 66,000 
K. Vocor 169.975 

1,124,851 



fu: 36085 

MINUTES .( F S W O L D E R S  MEETING 

Place : SANMA Prov.nce Conference Room 
Date : Fr iday  , 20 :h December, 1996 
T i m e  : 1l.OOam 

Present  : John L u ~  - President SANMA Province 
Wi l l i e  I i u  - pr iva te  Secretary t o  President of 

S A W  Province . 
Jean Clzude Tabe - President ,  MALAMPA Pr0vinc.e 
Liat la t r  a1 - Secretary General, W P A  Province 
Barn Lin: - President, PENAMA Province: 
Roger B1 se - Asst. Sec. General, PENAMh Province 
Malachi Rua - C o d s s i o n e r  fo r  TORBA Province 

Antoine Pikioune - Chairman, NISCOL Board of Directors 
Kalmer Jocor - General Manager, NISCOL . . .  
Tom Bak 30 - Board Mcmber 

- .  I rene E ~ngniam - Roard Member 

Also Present : Jezobsen J. B u l e  - A s s t .  Manager NISCOL. . . 
Approval of Agenda 

Additions : 
5.  Other Business - Shareholders I 8riviSeqes 

John Lum moved to tccept Agenda. H.Lini seconded. 

1 .  Directors Adva 13 

The chairman int roluced the subject  and elaborated on i t .  Discuss- 
ions continued on che subject  and it was agreed t o  write. cff . -: 
d i r e c t o r ' s  fees  t k u s  a reso lu t ion  was passed t o  do so: ' 

Ham Lini moved t c  accept. Jean.C.Tabe seconded. 

A l l  sharehalders :greed. 



APPENDIX I 

Board of Directors Meetina Venues 

11 February 1994 
10June 1994 
4 August 1994 
19 December 1994 

11 April 1995 
6 July 1995 
9 August 1995 
5 September 1995 
10 December 1995 

13 March l996 
16 April 1996 
31 May 1996 
26 June 1996 
26 July 1996 
10 September 1996 
l l October 1996 
18 November 1996 
6 November 1996 
19 December 1996 
20 December 1996 

28 February 1997 
24 March 1997 
25 April 1997 
2 May 1997 
24June 1997 
8 July 1997 
14 August 1997 
3 October 1997 
28 November 1997 

Venue 

Ministry of Finance Conference room 
Lonnoc Resort - Hog Harbour 
Sanma Council Conference room 
Ministry of Finance Conference room 

Jaranmoli Bungalows 
Economic Affairs Conference room 
Sydney Australia 
Niscol Office 
Harbour View Restaurant 

Sanma province Office 
Harbour View Restaurant 
Harbour View Restaurant 
Sanma Province Office 
Sanma Province Office 
El Gecko Restaurant 
Prime Minister's Office 
Provincial Affairs Department 
Prime Minister's Office 
Santo Chinese Restaurant 
Niscol Office 

Santo Chinese Restaurant 
El Gecko Restaurant 
Sanma Province Office 
Royal Garden Restaurant 
PM's Office 
Santo Chinese Restaurant 
PM's Second Secretary's Office 
Niscol Office 
PM's Second Secretary's Office 

Restaurants - 10 
Outside Luaanville 10 
(Vila, Australia) 

Santo 8 



3. ACCOUNTS 

L. Ova i bringim up cos t  blong fuel  w e i  i high. H e m i  se i kat'.,,r.*~$ , 
tumas mis-use long 01 company v e h i c l e .  K.  Vocor i explen se due;;,j'cL.- :$.+ -' 

2 >.!, N,X?-  l o n g  busy manis blong e l e c t i o n  nao mekem se f u e l  i high. 
L+ p c  ' 

,.,. - -  d. 



J j C. LcVLC 

Credit invoices must be paid in full by the 15th of the loll 
terminated. 



AppemdiY K b i j ~  
. , . ,. 

. NORTHERN ISLANDS STEVEDORING COMPANY LIMITED 

. P O . K J X 2 2 8 .  
. . Luganville. 

Santo. 
Telephone : 36084 
Fax: 36085 

Nc No: . . .  ; 

Invoice: . 20363 

3 cc A 2 Y l t  Date:. ............ l . .  .......... I ............. 

vessel . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  Voyage: ............................................... 

Arrival date: ...... l ...... l ...... ........ ........ ........ . . . .  . . . .  . . , .  Departure date: l l .  Storage commences: l l 

BIL no. and I Wharfage / Toll Tax Slorage 
... onrl .V-.. 

Total 

TOTAL AMOUNT PAYABLE 

-W%.- 
choqua no. :... . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

Cash 0 
Accounts 0 
Credit invoices must be paid in full by (he 15(h of the following monlh, otherwise lhe credit facility wtll be 
lerrnlnated. 

CUSTOMER 



p 0 BOX 228. 
Luganv~lle. 
Santo. 
Telephone ' 36084 
Fax: 36085 

Client. 

' M R .  WICCIE  Uu 
C/-. &QN &u/hl C& 

Q ~ I Q I  . .  
. vfl$(J qi-t) 

J Vessel : ............................................................ 

N c  No: 

Invoice 

a U A_aS& Date . I . .  / . . . . . . . . . . .  

Voyage: ... J ........................ 1 
i 

........ ........ ........ Arrival date: ...... l ...... l ...... Departure date: ..... l ...... / ...... Storage commences: / 1 I 
! 

BIL no. and - 0, 

.W Port 
3361 L I ~ J  . I~ESEL 

Cheque no 

l I I I 

. ., . 
Credit invoicss must be paid in full by the 15th of  the following month, othenvw Ihe credit faulily will be 
terminated: 

CUSTOMER 

Wharfage 

W E L X  33,4 

TOTAL AMOUNT PAYABLE 
21 9 ' 2 ' ~  

Toll Tax 

c 
! 
i 

I Storage Total 
Tax 

A A  I I ~ ~ J T  



. . . . . . . . . . . .  r .... .:.m"- *,.* -."v.- . . '  .l ..&, "m,.- .... 
1V%*:&&i ......... .-+~, 7- &e;,adVaa~s&~der :.;&&iqe ., Erluoune 'S / 

. name :..were 'actually f o r  :.=,L.and :iithert ..these 
transferr-& to UKP advances,<;r'~~eu;,tfre total. W 

- .  
.. ....... . . . . . .  .. <-. .:..:%. .ii-*il.i. 

nu& 'of. v%?.Q,~~o ( ~ ~ 2 6 ~ ~ 5 6 8 .  + mu0,420). be -arrit taa , .@off "&T&O+II~&ii* .L ,e : ..'--C--Crl- - . . . . . . . . .  

There being no further  business. T. Solong moved the meeting be 
closed. Tom Bakeo seconded.. 





I N V O I C E  ""-KC +L '. 

.A b . ,  . - '-I IVS131?54&: 
. , 

N K l  V l L A  1 
;) llol i iy Party 1 

* a D E L  CHASSIS NO. ----------- E I G  NO. - - - - -- - - - 
- DITTO - 1 D40S EU021-01302 863351 

D150 EMO86-00012 SO001 l 
i 
I 

JlPort vf  lodi 
B U W ~  ~ ~ R E A  

5) P i n l  rtat~mtia. 
SANTO. REP OF 1 . - 
VANUArn l 

- 
6 I k r c r  l lSu l iq  un I abml 
CORAL ISLANDER I APR 04, 1998 i . -1 

050 I l 

SANTO 
L/C NO. : 9033/461817 
PXG NO. : 1/2-2/2 
DAE'UOO CORP. 
MADE IN mREA 

*tt**tf tt 

D40S DAEWGiJ F O R l U I n  TRUCS 
1 UNIT USD32-407-00 

D150 DAEWOO F O R S L I n  TRUCX 
1 UNIT USD86.359-00 

TOTAL 2 UNITS USD118.766-00 
1 = 9 = 3 = = = = 3 = = = = 9 1 P 3 = = = ~ ~ = = = = ~ = = S = = s ~ ~ 3 = =  

AS P W  PRO FORMA INVOICE DATED 2 FEBUARY 1998- 

SAY ; U- S- WLLARS ONE HUHDRED EIGETEEN THOUSAND 
SEVEN HUNDRED SIXTY SIX ONLY. 

7 )  -U .  P. 0. 2810 SEOUL. SOREA 
CABLE: DAE'100 SEOUL 

-TELEX: DILEV00 i2334114.324295 
-TELEPBONE: 759-?l14 







P.0. BOX 1348, PORT V I U ,  VANUATU 
W € n l a i x @ f i )  

Telephone: (878) 24297 Fax: (678) 26138 

. . . . . .  - - - -. . . . . . . .  - . .- -- - - . .... -, . 
NISCOL 

; 

P 0. BOX 228 I 
h ~ O i C e #  00006047 

L l J G A N V l U  
YANTO 

Date: 25/5/98 

. . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . . . . . .  -. . . . . . . . . . .  - Paga: t . . . . .  .. 

xiptlon 
. -. . . . .  .- .. - . .  - .... - . 

S m ~ c e  Tax paid by Bodiarn for; 
1 i Unit 01 S0 Forklift 
I X 0405 Fotklin 

S a ~ c e  tex  payments 

Amount 
r - -- 

Il 
Please nob. Machines were Duty free. #I 

l 

......... - ... 
NB. All pans remain the properry of Bodlam 
:11rrl1 full cost of parrs is pald. 
>)o vehicle to leave prernisas befare oayment 
,unless prior arrangement 'with Manager. 

Tctal h a u n t :  \JQ.484,742 

)4mount v10 

3 0 1 ; ~ c e  Oue. 'JQ.J84,;42 







NORTHERN ISLANDS S T E V E D ~ N G  COMPANY LIMITED 
P 0. 8 0 X  226. 
Luganville. 
Santo. 
Telephone - 36084 
Fax: 36085 

........................................................................ Vessel : Voyage: ............................................... 

Client: Ak No: ............................................ 

...... ...... ...... .... ........ Arrival date: / l Departure date: ..... / ...... 1 ...... Storage commences: ........ / :.;.I 

i 81L no. and / Wharfage I Toll Tax 1 Storage I Tatal 1 

MR KALMER VOCOR 

THE W A G E R  

NISCOL COMPANY LIMITED 

I SlLVTo. 

- - -  - -  -l --- 
~l I n j e c t o r s  SR2 99/274 I 

Invoice: 20566  

Date:. 2 2 ............. ............ 05 98 ............ l I 

- - - - - - l  

/ S/Hand " Rubber S 8 5 W  Han 

:. . . 
Cheque no. ~ . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  . . , . . ., . . . 

C a s h  
,- . . 
1- . . - . . . . 

Acccunts i 

Cr?a:t :nvolces must be Palcl ;n :uil Cy the : 51h a i  the failowing month. olhewise ihe credit facility wiil be 
rerrnmated. 



7 

.. . 
1 : 36085 (C. );l~;cr) 

36084 (Office) 
Santo, 36086 (Supewisor) 

: Vanuat 36087 (Chief Mech) 
36088 (S. Wharf) 

Fax: 36085 

19  November 1997 

Ltten ion : Thomas Goh l I 

 CL?- 

Company as follows: 





. . . .  -.,.. .<,.<'!,. r' ......... . . .  ............... F !  .:' 

:c,. :;..-;;. 
. . . . . . . . .   ON DES PAATls M o O ~ R &  $# 

:W 324, \ , -. 
UNION OC MOOERATC ':"::l - 

P.C. 40x 34' ,.;;..: : k . vTU';.u . * . \ ,.' - P O W  VIU; '? :;.:. 

. ,  ,. !C.; A . j ., : . a 

b .  . 
! ' . . . .  

.. Your dr.coteIy, 

rr HOC Rldti!h S ~ C  'v'CHOR. P n m  >f~&tf  
~ c s I C C ? . ~  - ~ I ~ u O  ifh!&'lit P A Y ~ C I  





i i  

W .  Taxi - suggested: - - 
.- 

- Kalmer write a letter t o  UKP asking for the 
T i a n  VTL, 500,000 advance t o  be paid back and that this 

be classed as a loan. 

l 
L- Ova - moved to approve the above suggestions. 





/ &(L+@ t n 1 ' X  (1 +q4, bp1 ,l+ ,,,: 

' I"' < I' v./ , (4 ,+/ I C  . 
/ 

" 

. . 
111,1.. . .  

=9~&3t;,,p~ 

--.-- 53'r)E; t,I'&. + 

rLSk 

--,= -... 
. ~,...?ci=---- -., 

j 3. .--. 

. .,.-.*,c 'i. .*....L. -L.. L . . .  i -, .-_.., 
,," " 

P.. .. . . . . . . .  ... . ,') .,? , . ~ ,.-';.-A )/' ?" .*---* 6 . - ,  - . . ,J  
. . 

.. . .  . a  . .  L... \ .  , - , . . . . . .  -.;. . ..-B- . 2::- '..i.. ,"*.,L. .-..- S - .  .. . .  . I ;  - p .,-.. .. . - -- .. .- . .- .-. .. - 0 ,  . . ;  K.. . ;  i A:;;",;,- .., , ;, 
. .  . a . .  . . , h  . . . I  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .  

A 1 ? , , .  . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . . .d. . . . . .  . . . . . . . . . . . .  
1 , , . , ~ 8 1 , 1 . 1 f . 1 . ~ 1 . , 1 1 . , , 1 1  .- . . . . . . . . . . . ) . ,  7: . . . .  , . .  



- AciWce to S a t 0  East O'MP Committee be classed as 
a loan as K. Vacor advised it had been paid back. 



. . 

I , .  . .  



- The hire car used during the election t o  be 

- - classed as a donation. 




